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Endpapers: Cross section of the Winchester legend. Upper left. Volcanic lever-action pistol by Smith & Wesson, rights to which were bought by O. F Winchester. Lever-action musket with bayonet, a Model 1873, an all-time classic. Rifle beneath, the Model 1904 .22 rimfire bolt-action, representing one of dozens of .22s of various types built by factory over the years. Lower left, the Model 50 automatic shotgun, landmark sixteen-millionth Winchester (gift to General LeMay, Outdoorsman of the Year, 1957, by John M. Olin). Center right, Grand American Model 21 side-by-side shotgun, top of the line, delivered to client Gary Hansen, 1990. O. E Winchester’ commemorative Model 94, among the most popular of factory issues for a whole new breed of collector. Ammunition became a bread-and-butter product over the years and continues to be produced today by the Winchester Division of Olin’ Industries. Fly-fishing rod and reel represent non-gun Winchester products, mainly in sporting goods and hardware. The Winchester horse-and-rider logo was originally painted by artist Philip Goodwin, c. 1935. Catalogue at upper right from 1933.






Frontispiece: Evolutionary landmarks, and memorabilia, in the Winchester legend. Left to right, iron-framed Volcanic pistol, by Smith & Wesson, one of the earliest lever-actions. Model 1873, a musket, with its angular steel bayonet. Model 1904, .22 rimfire bolt-action rifle, evolved by Winchester from its first .22 bolt, the 1900 invented by John M. Browning. Sixteen-millionth Winchester is the Model 50 automatic, presented by John M. Olin to General Curtis LeMay, 1957. The Grand American Model 21 side-by-side double-barrel shotgun was delivered to client in 1990. O. E Winchester commemorative Model 94 Was among the most popular of factory issues for collectors. Ammunition has been a staple Winchester product since the 1860s. Fishing reel represents non-gun Winchester products, primarily in sporting goods and hardware.


In memory of

O. F. Winchester,

T. G. Bennett,

and John M. Olin,

and in honor of

the tens of thousands

of Winchester employees

who built and sold

the Winchester

arms and ammunition

which made the legend

AND

With apologies

to Christopher and Stephen—

this is why Dad

couldn’t take you fishing.
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Theodore Roosevelt on safari in East Africa, with a mammoth bull black rhinoceros, taken with a Winchester Model 1895 in .405 caliber. Rhino a specimen for the Smithsonian Institution, long before the species was on the endangered list.


The Winchester … is by all odds the best weapon I ever had,

and I now use it almost exclusively….

It is as handy to carry, whether on foot or on horseback,

and comes up to the shoulder as readily as a shotgun;

it is absolutely sure, and there is no recoil to jar

and disturb the aim, while it carries accurately

quite as far as a man can aim with any degree of certainty….

The Winchester is the best gun for any game to be found

in the United States, for it is as deadly, accurate,

and handy as any, stands very rough usage, and

is unapproachable for the rapidity of its fire

and the facility with which it is loaded.

Theodore Roosevelt

Hunting Trips of a Ranchman, 1885
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New Haven Arms Company trade card, c. 1863.


Introduction

Firearms have been major instruments in the course of history since their first primitive appearance in the fourteenth century. In all that time no maker of longarms can equal the international image of adventure attached to the name Winchester. The historian, collector, or curator who pursues the Holy Grail of Winchester belongs to a select group of devotees of one of the most fascinating marques in Americana. Arguably it is the Winchester that won the West. And the two most glamorous and sought-after blue chips in gun collecting worldwide are Colt, primarily a handgun maker, and Winchester, primarily a maker of shoulder guns.

Designed with mechanical ingenuity and made with advanced manufacturing techniques—mass production decades before Henry Ford and the automobile—most Winchesters were graceful and handsome in line and form. And for the lover of decorative arts, a prized portion of production has the extra merit of hand decoration: checkered or carved select-grain stocks, special finishes, engraving and precious-metal inlaying, and sometimes elegant casings. A few were presentations, even gifts of state.

Tracing its origins back to 1849, Winchester is the oldest maker of lever-action repeating firearms in the world, and at its peak in the twentieth century was the largest gunmaker in the world with over 18,000 employees. As an ammunition manufacturer, Winchester remains the world’s largest. The marque is also possessor of one of history’s most famous brand names. In many respects Winchester is to firearms and ammunition as Ferrari is to automobiles and Tiffany is to silver.

Winchester: An American Legend pays tribute to the romance and legacy of this remarkable heritage in a pictorial review of the deluxe and the standard, the historic and the everyday working tool. Herein is a collection which no museum or enthusiast could ever hope to assemble in today’s spellbinding market. Increasingly the most prized Winchesters are leaving private hands and becoming permanent exhibits in museums. Winchester: An American Legend exclusively brings together these dazzling arms and their history.

Period photographs and original art were chosen to complement the exquisite color photography of G. Allan Brown, specially commissioned for this book and shot to convey the mechanical and artistic merit of the firearms and the unique aura of Winchester and its galaxy of guns.

The author is indebted to the officials of the Winchester Division of the Olin Corporation and the U.S. Repeating Arms Company, and to the many collectors and museums who have shared their prized firearms with Allan Brown’s 4 × 5 Schneider lens to make Winchester: An American Legend a reality.

—R. L. Wilson
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Pioneers preceding the Winchester. From the top, the only known Hunt Volitional Repeater, the first of millions of Winchester firearms to follow. Second and third rifles are the Jennings—the First Model (breech-loading and single-shot, with ring trigger and triggerguard) and the Second Model (a magazine repeater, with ring trigger and automatic pill primer). At bottom, a rare iron-frame promotional rifle by Smith & Wesson, an early Volcanic of exquisite quality exhibiting features prescient of the Henry rifle.


Chapter I

Genesis of the Winchester

New York City inventor Walter Hunt held a patent for a unique bullet he called the Rocket Ball, with the powder within the lead projectile, and the primer from a separate device actuated by the hammer. The gun he designed to fire his rockets was an ugly but intriguing lever-action breech-loader, which he named the Volitional Repeater. From this awkward arm evolved the Jennings, the Smith & Wesson, the Volcanic, the Henry, and the Winchester lever-action firearms. But only one Hunt rifle is presently known, and that has been part of the Winchester factory’s museum collection since the days of O. F. Winchester himself. Although the Hunt proved quite impractical, the seeds for an incredible enterprise had been sown.

The Hunt never entered into production, but the basic design was improved by a talented gunsmith named Lewis Jennings and patented on Christmas Day, 1849. Jennings worked in New York for businessman George Arrowsmith, who had taken an interest in the Hunt concept and later became an investor in its future. It was not Arrowsmith but another New Yorker, Courtland C. Palmer, who bought the rights to the Hunt and Jennings, and then contracted with the Robbins and Lawrence factory in Windsor, Vermont, to manufacture 5,000 guns in a historic building which now houses the American Precision Museum. (The foreman at the plant was one B. Tyler Henry, who was later to be a key player in the rapid growth of Winchester and its predecessor companies.)

The Jennings rifle, of .54 caliber, had a tubular magazine under the barrel, used an improved lead projectile, and had an ignition system dependent on an automatically-fed pill primer. Only three models of Jennings were made: the First type, a breech-loading single-shot; the Second type, a repeater with improvements by Horace Smith; and the Third, a single-shot muzzle-loader. Two pioneer American gunmakers who also had prominent roles in the Jennings were Horace Smith and D. B. Wesson, who were later to become the renowned revolver manufacturers Smith & Wesson.

Jennings rifles were made from approximately 1850 to 1852, and only about 1,000 were completed. Too complex, ugly, and underpowered, these arms were a commercial failure. But as the first Winchester made in any quantity, they are of historical and technical importance.

The Smith & Wesson and Volcanic Repeaters

After the Hunt-Jennings-Arrowsmith effort. Horace Smith and D. B. Wesson carried on with investor Courtland C. Palmer and formed a new company, first named Smith & Wesson and later the Volcanic Repeating Arms Company. The basic patent for the so-called toggle-link action was awarded to inventors Smith and Wesson on February 14, 1854. Initial production of the S&W “Volcanic” was in Norwich, Connecticut, and the guns were lever-action. These early, iron-framed arms were limited to handguns, in calibers .30 and .38, with hollow projectiles that contained both powder and primer. The Smith & Wesson period arms number only about 1,000 total and are marked with the patent date and SMITH & WESSON NORWICH, CT. Ironically, they are the first S&W firearms as well as being pioneer Winchesters.
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The complexities of Walter Hunt’s patent of August 21, 1849, for his Volitional Repeater, are evident in this specification drawing. The lever near the trigger was for cocking, the forward lever for loading cartridges from the magazine. The one known example (inset) may have survived because it was likely seldom fired.
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The Third Model Jennings rifle was a muzzle-loading single-shot, using percussion caps. The magazine tube under the barrel was adapted to hold a ramrod. Note the distinctive trigger and triggerguard configuration.
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The First Model Jennings, a single-shot breech-loader, operated by pulling the hammer to half cock; loading-port cover is opened, and the cocking lever/trigger is slid forward to move the breech bolt rearward. The pill primer is automatic as the lever is moved. When rearward, the bolt is locked and priming has been achieved, and the hammer is then pulled to full cock. A final pull on the trigger fires the rifle. At top, operation of the Second Model Jennings, a pill-primed repeater, is basically the same as above, except that the forward and rearward movement of the cocking lever/trigger also feeds the cartridge from the magazine tube beneath the barrel. Primer on both guns is at the top of the frame, adjacent to the hammer, and covered by a disk. The Third Model, a muzzle-loader, is standard with hand-applied percussion-cap priming. Both the First and Third Models have ramrods beneath the barrel, in place of the magazine tube of the Second Model.

In July of 1855 the business was restructured, and the company changed its name to the Volcanic Repeating Arms Company. But sales were slow, and the firm accumulated debt. One of the stockholders of the new firm was Oliver F. Winchester, then a shirtmaker living in New Haven. He had a fine hand at business, and by 1857 he had acquired the major share of Volcanic stock and had become president of the firm. In 1856, the factory and offices had moved to New Haven, and Horace Smith and D. B. Wesson dropped out of the business to concentrate on metallic-cartridge revolvers, an enterprise at which they would make their fortunes.

Volcanic arms, made from 1855 to 1857, had brass frames, are in .38 caliber, and fired self-contained and self-primed lead projectiles. Only about 3,000 guns were manufactured, and in only two models: a carbine and a lever-action Navy pistol (some with attachable shoulder stock). Their standard barrel marking is THE VOLCANIC REPEATING ARMS CO./PATENT NEW HAVEN CONN/FEB. 14, 1854.

In 1857 the firm adopted the name New Haven Arms Company, by which time O.F. Winchester had exclusive ownership of the patents, and 800 of the 1,900 shares issued were his. Not only was he president and chief stockholder, he also became treasurer. The new guns did not have the VOLCANIC markings in their barrel address, but Volcanic was the trade name applied to them, and that is how all these lever-action arms are generally termed by collectors. Total production was only about 3,200 handguns and longarms, and, despite an expanded line of rifles, sales were weak.

However, Frank Leslie’s Illustrated Weekly, October 9, 1858, enthusiastically endorsed the Volcanic:


It combines every quality requisite in such a weapon, with many advantages which no similar invention has yet succeeded in attaining. It is placed beyond all competition by the rapidity of its execution. Thirty shots can be fired in less than one minute—a really marvellous rapidity, in which it far outdoes the best revolving firearms yet produced. Its ammunition has the advantage of compactness, lightness, and of being water-proof…. the entire charge consists in a bullet of the Minié pattern, in which both charge and priming are contained, and of which sixty weigh only one pound. What an improvement upon the heavy cartridge of powder-flask that it has hither been necessary to carry! The balls may be soaked in water with perfect impunity, and can be kept any length of time in any climate, without losing their explosive force; nor can they be exploded by contact with flame…. The manufacture of these firearms—of which several sizes, as well pistols as rifles, are produced—was commenced in 1855, and is now carried on by the New Haven Arms Company, of New Haven, Conn., where a large factory is established, employing, on an average, some fifty hands. The depot of the company, a very handsome store, is at No. 267 Broadway, New York.
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Serial number 100 Volcanic carbine, with rare New Haven Arms Company brochure, with pistols and carbines listed. According to the list, the price of this plated and engraved gun was $33, $38, or $43, depending on barrel length.
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The iron frame, humped back-frame profile, and spurred cocking lever help to identify this .38-caliber pistol, known as No. 2, as made by Smith & Wesson, Norwich. A smaller pistol, known as No. 1, was .30-caliber and had a bag-shaped grip. Only about 1,000 total of both types were made.
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From the estate of Oliver F. Winchester, ambrotype of a .30-caliber Volcanic pistol, probably taken for advertising and promotional purposes. The only such period photograph known to the author.
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New York dealer Joseph Merwin’s broadsheet on the Volcanic provides full details of operation. The full array of pistols and longarms helps to date this rare document c. 1859. Calibers are .30 and .38.
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Volcanic pistols by the Volcanic Repeating Arms Company and the New Haven Arms Company are brass-framed, the engraved examples standard silver-plated and blued. Navy pistol, at top, with rosewood grips, pocket pistol with walnut. Compared with that on contemporary Colt firearms, the engraving was rather primitive.
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Oliver F. Winchester’s own deluxe pair of ivory-gripped Volcanic Navy pistols, serial numbers 1401 and 1506—the only firearms known to the author as having been owned by Winchester himself, who passed them down through the family. Gold Tiffany & Co. watch belonged to son-in-law T. G. Bennett, who joined Winchester in, 1870. These artifacts are directly associated with the two driving forces in Winchester history, spanning the years from the 1850s to the 1920s. O. F. Winchester and T. G. Bennett made Winchester.
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The attachable shoulder stock was appropriate for the 16-inch barrel of the .38-caliber Navy pistol, one of the most rare of Volcanics.
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Volcanic rifle of .38 caliber, in original pasteboard packing box, with cartridges.

The Henry Rifle

But from the Hunt, Jennings, Smith & Wesson, and Volcanics would soon evolve one of the most noteworthy of all pioneers in the Winchester story: the Henry rifle. B. Tyler Henry, inventor-gunmaker-mechanic and plant superintendent, had an involvement with the lever gun from as early as 1857. In October of 1860, Henry was issued a patent covering his design of a new rifle employing a rimfire metallic-cased cartridge, to replace the impractical self-contained lead-powder-and-primer bullet of the Volcanics. The use of this new ammunition was the key to making the new gun practical—so important were these developments that the new arm came to be called the Henry, and its cartridge bore an H headstamp in honor of the inventor. The Henry was of .44 caliber, with a 216-grain conical bullet, backed by a 26-grain powder charge.

With continued financial backing from O. F. Winchester, tooling up proceeded at a relatively rapid pace, and, fueled by the Civil War market, the first Henrys were in the field by mid-1862. But the revolutionary new repeater had to prove itself. The Chief of Ordnance, Brigadier General James W. Ripley, was decidedly of a boldly looking backward mentality toward any newfangled repeaters (even though President Lincoln was so intrigued by them that he test-fired a Spencer repeater on the White House lawn). Ripley actually warned the Secretary of War, in December of 1861, of “a great evil … in regard to … the vast variety of new inventions…. the weights of the arms with the loaded magazines [is] objectionable, and also the requirement of special ammunition rendering it impossible to use the arms with the ordinary cartridges or with powder and ball.” Single-shot guns could be loaded and fired quickly enough, he added.

The future of the Henry was likely boosted by special presentations to Secretary of War Edwin Stanton and Secretary of the Navy Gideon Welles, and even a gift to President Lincoln—all guns with single-digit serial numbers, richly engraved and inscribed, and fitted with rosewood stocks. The Henry was even tested at the Washington Navy Yard (conveniently, Secretary Welles was from Connecticut), reported in May of 1862:187 shots were fired in three minutes and thirty-six seconds (not counting reloading time), and one full fifteen-shot magazine was fired in only 10.8 seconds. A total of 1,040 shots were fired, and hits were made from as far away as 348 feet, at an 18-inch-square target—quite impressive accuracy with open sights. The report noted, “It is manifest from the above experiment that this gun may be fired with great rapidity, and is not liable to get out of order. The penetration, in proportion to the charge used, compares favorably with that of other arms.”

[image: images]

From the top, Henry rifle serial number 11, with variant factory scroll, border engraving, and rosewood stock. Note early-style lever, without locking latch, a feature also evident on the iron-frame Henry number 73 (next), one of the finest examples known to collectors. This factory-engraved Henry has the rare combination of gold-plated frame and rosewood stock. Bottom, an example of engraving by Louis D. Nimschke, who was active in New York in the second half of the nineteenth century.

By July of 1862 the Henry was on the market, and it quickly found popularity with both civilian and military purchasers—except for the federal government, sales to which totaled only 1,731, spread over the period July 1863 to November 1865.

A July 14th, 1862, newspaper report, in the Louisville Journal, written by its editor George D. Prentice, was highly laudatory:


In these days, when rebel outlaws and raids are becoming common in Kentucky, when guerillas are scouring different counties nightly, and practising the most atrocious outrages, when even the central positions of our State are openly threatened, and when it is understood in high quarters that secret companies are on foot for a sudden and general insurrection at some favorable moment, it behooves every loyal citizen to prepare himself upon his own responsibility with the best weapon of defense that can be obtained. And certainly the simplest, surest, and most effective weapon that we know of, the weapon that could be used with the most tremendous results in case of an outbreak or invasion, is one that we have mentioned recently upon two or three occasions, the newly invented rifle of Henry, now on exhibition, and for sale at Messrs. Jas. Low and Co.’s, Sixth street.

This rifle, as we have stated, can be loaded in eight or ten seconds with fifteen cartridges, and the whole number can be fired in fifteen seconds or less, so that one man, with the weapon, is equal to fifteen armed with ordinary guns…. It may lie loaded for a week at the bottom of a river, and, if taken out, will then fire with as much certainty as if it had been kept perfectly dry all the time. It is remarkably simple, not liable to get out of order, and is utterly free from the objection sometimes urged against other repeating rifles that two or more charges are liable to be fired at once.



Prentice believed so strongly in the Henry that he brought several hundred of them to resell to clients who were faithful to the Union cause.

Besides in Kentucky, early sales were especially brisk in the border states, Illinois, Missouri, and Indiana. Other sites and sellers included leading arms dealers J. C. Grubb of Philadelphia, Hartley & Graham of New York, William Read & Son of Boston, and R. Liddle of San Francisco.

An extraordinary encounter between seven Confederates and Captain James M. Wilson, commanding officer of Company M of the 12th Kentucky Cavalry, was widely publicized, appearing in various advertisements and journals. H.W.S. Cleveland’s Hints to Riflemen gives an account:


Capt. Wilson had fitted up a long crib across the road from his front door as a sort of arsenal, where he had his Henry Rifle, Colt’s Revolver, etc. One day, while at home dining with his family seven mounted guerillas rode up, dismounted and burst into his dining room and commenced firing upon him with revolvers. The attack was so sudden that the first shot struck a glass of water his wife was raising to her lips, breaking the glass. Several other shots were fired without effect, when Capt. Wilson sprang to his feet, exclaiming, “For God’s sake, gentlemen, if you wish to murder me, do not do it at my own table in the presence of my family.”

This caused a parley, resulting in their consent that he might go out doors to be shot. The moment he reached his front door he sprang for his cover, and his assailants commenced firing at him. Several shots passed through his hat, and more through his clothing, but none took effect upon his person. He thus reached his cover and seized his Henry Rifle, turned upon his foes, and in five shots killed five of them; the other two sprung for their horses. As the sixth man threw his hand over the pommel of his saddle, the sixth shot took off four of his fingers; notwithstanding this he got into his saddle, but the seventh shot killed him; then starting out, Capt. Wilson killed the seventh man with the eighth shot.

In consequence of this feat the State of Kentucky armed his Company with the Henry Rifle.



Wilson’s company was not the only one to be armed with the Henry, but the issuing of such arms was counter to War Department policy. Assistant Secretary of War Peter Watson wrote to O. F. Winchester (August 9, 1862) that “companies arming themselves with Henry’s repeating rifle, will [not] be allowed to retain them in the field … as great inconvenience has resulted from promises heretofore given in other cases to furnish companies of troops with special arms. If you choose to arm and equip a whole regiment at your own expense, or the regiment chooses to arm itself, it will be accepted with the condition that it shall be at liberty to use its own arms and equipments exclusively.”

Despite the War Department objections, 240 Henrys were purchased by the federal government for the 1st District of Columbia Cavalry. Inspired by that moral victory, O. F. Winchester gleefully wrote to Brigadier General Ripley stating, “If these arms were used as efficiently by the men who are to receive them as they have been by our Union friends in Kentucky, the country will have no cause to regret the expenditure.”

Still another federal government purchase was 800 more Henrys, to equip the eight companies of Maine cavalry assigned to the 1st District of Columbia Cavalry. Armed also with Spencer rifles, the First Maine had ample opportunity to demonstrate the superiority of breech-loading, metallic-cartridge repeaters.

The regimental chaplain, Samuel H. Merrill, wrote in his memoir on the First Maine and the 1st District cavalry units:


This regiment was distinguished by the superiority of the carbines with which it was armed. It was the only regiment in the Army of the Potomac armed with “Henry’s Repeating Rifle.” … After having witnessed the effectiveness of this weapon, one is not surprised at the remark, said to have been made by the guerilla chief. Mosby, after an encounter with some of our men, that “he did not care for the common gun, or for Spencer’s seven shooter, but as for these guns that they could wind up on Sunday, and shoot all the week, it was useless to fight against them.”
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Oliver Fisher Winchester, November 30, 1810-December 10, 1880. From New England farm boy to world-renowned industrialist and entrepreneur. In addition to his role in building the Winchester Repeating Arms Company, he was a generous patron of Yale University and a founder of the Yale National Bank and the New Haven Water Company, and he was elected lieutenant governor of Connecticut in 1866. The New Haven Palladium eulogized him as “an eminent citizen, to whose public spirit and private enterprise [New Haven] is indebted for much of her present prosperity … The great establishment which he organized, and to which he gave his name, stands to-day as a monument to the great ability and enterprise which marked his whole business career.”

[image: images]

The master drawing from B. Tyler Henry’s patent of October 16, 1860, showing the mechanism open and closed, the bolt, extractor, and carrier block, the cartridge and magazine, and even the sectional hickory-and-metal cleaning rod and its compartment in the buttstock. Note toggle-link connection to the bolt, and automatic cocking of the hammer as the lever is lowered. Not shown is the means by which the magazine plunger is slid manually to the muzzle, allowing the loading aperture to be twisted to the side to allow for front loading of cartridges.

Reports of the successful use of Henrys in the Civil War are numerous, both from the Union point of view and from the Confederates who forced the incessant fire. The incredible firepower, especially in comparison to the muzzle-loading single shots, is evident in Major William Ludlow’s account of the Battle of Allatoona Pass:


What saved us that day … was the fact that we had a number of Henry rifles…. These were new guns in those days and [the commander] had held in reserve a company of an Illinois Regiment that was armed with them until a final assault should be made. When the artillery reopened … this company of 16-shooters sprang to the parapet and poured out such a multiplied, rapid, and deadly fire that no men could stay in front of it, and no serious effort was thereafter made to take the fort by assault.



Endorsed by the President of the United States, the Spencer repeating rifle had a better following than the Henry. The Spencer, loading through an aperture in the butt, was referred to by General Ripley’s succeeding Chief of Ordnance (1864) as “the cheapest, most durable, and most efficient,” in comparison to the Colt revolving rifle (“both expensive and a dangerous weapon to the user”) and the Henry (“expensive and too delicate for service in its present form”). This preference is easily noted in the purchase totals: U.S. Ordnance acquired just over 94,000 Spencer carbines, but only about 4,600 Colt revolving rifles, and a total of only 1,731 Henrys. An interesting and revealing further statistic: from January 1, 1861, to June 30, 1866, the Ordnance Department acquired approximately 4,600,000 .44 Henry cartridges, as compared to over 58 million cartridges for the Spencer.

Finally, at the end of the war, in March of 1866, a major ordnance test was held for the Army’s adoption of a breech-loading firearm system. Several single-shot firearms were tested, but only two magazine repeaters, the Henry and the Spencer. Tested for rapidity of fire, endurance, bullet penetration, and other factors, the Henry experienced such problems as burst cartridge casings, a burst cartridge in the magazine, and a locked breech pin (only movable “by blows”). Other problems encountered were relatively weak penetration (seven 1-inch pine boards by the Henry, ten by the Spencer), failure to work practically as a single-shot rifle, weak mainspring, and “imperfect” connector “between the arm and the platform that raises the cartridge.” Tests for dust were acceptable, but the results of the rust test were not favorable.

The final report favored the Spencer, stating it was “the best service gun of this kind yet offered.”

O. F. Winchester’s reaction to the report was to publish his own comments, making disparaging observations on the Spencer, and even stating that his reaction was addressed specifically to the Secretary of War. But Winchester probably did not stay mad for long: the glut of arms on the market following the end of the Civil War led to the demise of the Spencer, as prices for surplus arms plummeted. Despite the endorsement of the Ordnance Department, by 1868 the Spencer firm had gone under. Winchester acquired its assets, and buying out the competition became a preferred practice in the evolution of Winchester.

Despite the fact that only two basic types of Henry rifle were made, some details on these arms are still obscure. But first, what is generally known: the initial production was of iron-frame rifles, serialized in their own range, from 1 up through approximately 400.* The buttplates are also of iron, and the loading levers have no extension to engage a locking latch. The profiles of the stocks and frames are noticeably different from these on the standard Henrys, which were made with brass frames and buttplates and have the latch design for the levers, although some specimens below the serial range of approximately 2500 do not have the latch feature.

The brass Henrys are serialized from 1 up into the 14000 range, and thus overlap with the next model, the 1866 Winchester. Blued barrels were standard on both the iron-and brass-framed Henrys, and the barrels were marked

HENRY’S PATENT. OCT. 16. 1860
MANUFACT’D BY THE NEW HAVEN ARMS CO.
NEW HAVEN. CT.

Henrys marked by the U.S. government ordnance inspector are much sought-after; the guns, from various serial-number ranges, all have brass frames and are marked C.G.C. on the breech of the barrel and on the stock. Also much sought are engraved rifles; none to date have been found in the iron-frame variation, but several hundred were made in the brass-frame Henrys. Some striking examples are featured in the accompanying photographs, including presentations made for high-ranking government officials and B. Tyler Henry’s own rifle.

Since Henrys were sold with a sectional cleaning rod of brass, iron, and hickory, some specimens will be found with that feature still present, secured in a compartment in the buttstock and accessible through a trapdoor in the butt. Shaking the gun will reveal whether or not the cleaning rod is present.

The practical matter of manufacturing the Henry with its magazine integral with the octagonal barrel was addressed by gunmaker Aldo Uberti, with Val Forgett of Navy Arms Company, when tooling up for modern Henry production. Uberti surmised that the original manufacture was done by milling the barrel from a bar of steel, and then bending flat wings of metal on the sides around a mandrel to form the magazine (the technique he introduced for the .44-40-caliber rifles he and Navy Arms Co. have been producing since the 1970s). The ingenuity of nineteenth-century—and twentieth-century—gunmakers is one of the more appealing aspects of arms collecting.

[image: images]

New Haven Arms Company factory, c. 1859.
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President Lincoln’s Henry rifle, serial number 6, is one of the Smithsonian Institution’s great treasures. The frame and butt-plate are plated in gold; the stock is of lustrous rosewood. The President was intrigued by firearms and was a competent marksman.

[image: images]

Presentation Henry rifles of signal importance. Top, serial number 9, inscribed for the Secretary of the Navy, and serial number 1, for the Secretary of War. The stocks are rosewood, the frames and buttplates silver-plated. The promotional use of such arms was relatively rare in O. F. Winchester’s modus operandi; in this he differed from his contemporary Samuel Colt, for whom gift guns played a central role.

[image: images]

An extraordinary panorama of Henry rifles. From the top,the serial number 1 Volcanic carbine. A rare French copy of the Henry, with iron frame. Serial number 21, with early lever and butt profile. Henry 1216 with factory engraving and silver plating. The Civil War Henry of J. Spangenberg, “Co. B. 3d Rgt. U.S.V.” Sixth,the Civil War Henry of Louis Quinius, Co. B., Wisconsin Sixty-sixth Infantry. Number 8291, engraved and silver-plated, with rare sling, is credited with having been used by photographer Mathew Brady. Number 8816 is of the standard configuration of most of the second half of production. Bottom rifle bears presentation silver plaque, to J. E. Chapman, from employees of the Back Bay Gravel Works. High serial number 14262, from last of production.
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Tzi-kal-tzn, reputed to be the son of Captain William Clark of the Lewis and Clark Expedition, holds a Henry rifle (which apparently had a repair at the wrist) in this photograph by William H. Jackson (c. 1871).
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John W. Brown’s flier helped in spreading the word on “The Most Effective Weapon in the World,” and he accounted for over 500 rifles sold.
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Advertising art promoting the Henry rifle, also featuring its .44 Henry rimfire cartridge, c. 1862.
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Oglala Chief Sitting Bull (not the Sitting Bull of General Custer fame) was the recipient of this Henry from President U. S. Grant. The presentation was made in June of 1875, when the Henry was already relatively obsolete.
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Extraordinary Mathew Brady photograph of the color bearers and color guard, 7th Illinois Volunteer Infantry, armed with Henry rifles (and proud of it).

[image: images]

Wells Fargo & Company rewarded Stephen Venard with a presentation Henry and $3,000 for pursuing and killing three outlaws after they had stuck up a stagecoach near Nevada City, California. This Henry, now a featured exhibit at the Wells Fargo Bank History Room, San Francisco, has an engraved frame and buttplate and a richly decorated stock plaque of German silver. Venard, a former Nevada City town marshal, had used his own Henry in dispatching the outlaws.

[image: images]

Louis D. Nimschke’s distinctive scroll and border engraving graces this silver-plated Henry, its stock of varnished walnut. Characteristic of Nimschke is the sculptural scrollwork and the neatly punched dot background. A scrapbook kept by Nimschke documents several Henrys embellished by him, some of which even bore his signature in stamped or engraved initials.

[image: images]

Accompanying a standard late-model Henry is a stagecoach-style carrying case, with pinstripes to match the coach’s decor. This unique accessory was displayed at the Gene Autry Western Heritage Museum, Los Angeles, in a 1990 loan exhibition of coaches and memorabilia, “Stagecoach! The Romantic Western Vehicle.”

The Model 1866 Winchester

Although only about 13,000 Henrys were made, the name became so popular that for a year the firm was called the Henry Repeating Rifle Company. However, in 1866–67, since O. F. Winchester had majority control, the name was changed to the Winchester Repeating Arms Company, and the company absorbed all the assets of previous firms in which Winchester had invested substantial sums. Making guns had become more important than making shirts. And with the Henry’s successor, the Model 1866, his investments began to pay off handsomely. Known popularly as the “Yellow Boy” in reference to its bright brass frame, the 1866 was the first of hundreds of models to bear the name Winchester.

One of the most popular of all Winchester arms, the 1866 was widely used in opening the West and, in company with the Model 1873, is the most deserving of Winchesters to claim the legend “The Gun That Won the West.” It was also with this model that the factory engravers first created elaborate and exquisite masterpieces, some for exhibitions and a few for special presentations. The engraving dynasty of the Ulrich family, active primarily at Winchester for over eighty years, was effectively launched with the Model 1866.

Model 1866 production would reach a total in excess of 170,000, with its serial numbering continuing that of the Henry rifle. The run continued until 1898, despite the appearance of several newer, more modern lever-actions within its production span. All 1866s were in .44 rimfire caliber, and all frames were brass. Most steel parts were blued, though some barrels were browned, and the levers and hammers were standard case-hardened. As on the Henry, the model designation does not appear on the gun. However, the barrel markings are distinctive. Through serial range 23000 the first roll stamping was simply

[image: images]

Nelson King’s celebrated 1866 patent covering improvements in loading, for which he was rewarded $5,000 by a vote of the board of directors ($4,000 of which he took in company stock). Note the lack of a forend and the Henry-style frame, to which a hinged loading port was attached.

HENRY’S PATENT-OCT. 16. 1860.
KING’S PATENT-MARCH 29. 1866.

The remaining production carried the longer marking:

WINCHESTER’S-REPEATING ARMS. NEW HAVEN. CT.
KING’ S-IMPROVEMENT
PATENTED-MARCH 29. 1866. OCTOBER 16. 1860.

Giving credit where credit was due appears to have been a hallmark of Oliver Winchester’s attitude toward his leading employees. B. Tyler Henry’s improvements which created the Henry rifle were acknowledged in the earlier roll marking, as well as by the H headstamp on the cartridges. The reference to King’s improvement identifies a major contribution of Nelson King, who became superintendent of the Winchester factory late in 1866 (in Bridgeport) and remained so after the return to New Haven, 1871, not leaving the post until approximately 1875. King’s prime improvement was designing a practical system for storing cartridges in a tube under the barrel, and for loading the tube through a gate on the right side of the frame. In the inventor’s own words:


Beneath the barrel I place a thin metal tube extending along the barrel nearly its entire length, its rear and entering the frame…. Within the tube I place a follower and close the upper end of the tube by a plug or otherwise, and between the follower and the plug I place a helical spring, the tendency of which is to force the follower toward the lower or rear end of the tube. Through one of the plates (preferring that one upon the right hand side) I form an opening … so as to communicate through the frame directly to the chamber in the carrier-block. Through this opening, and while its carrier-block is down … insert the cartridges, front first … the second cartridge pressing the first into the magazine, and so on….



[image: images]

Comparison of three of the key stages in Winchester evolution. From the top, a Volcanic with standard engraving style and silver-plated frame. Standard engraving pattern on a silver-plated, brass-framed Henry rifle. The Model 1866 has its brass frame gold-plated and engraved by one of the Ulrich family. The loading port at frame center was the 1866’s prime improvement over its predecessors.

OEBPS/Images/img19.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img21-2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img21-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/titlepage.jpg
WINCHESTER.

AN AMERICAN LEGEND
R. L. WILSON

The Official History of
Winchester Firearms and Ammunition

rom
1849 to the Present






OEBPS/Images/img11.jpg





OEBPS/Images/frontendpaper.jpg
SUPERX






OEBPS/Images/img4.jpg
oF;
59 4
Ao

522

Y %

§\\\\\\\\






OEBPS/Images/img18-3.jpg





OEBPS/Images/imgIII-4.jpg
4>

s
7
°






OEBPS/Images/img6-2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img7-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img8.jpg





OEBPS/Images/imgx-1.jpg
NEW HAVEN ARMS COMPANY,
NEW HAVEYN, CONN,
U. S. A,

Manufacturers of
ienry's Repeating Bifles,
CARBINES, MUSKETS AND SHOT GUNS,

AND

BIXED AUMUNITION

FOR THXE SADME.
HENRY A. CHAPIN, Sec'y. 0. F. WINCHESTER, Pres't.






OEBPS/Images/img7-2.jpg
R gond N

it an sxom 7 10 39
el e ST AR

o than e i

&
: mmw:.::. ﬂ:_.rs ool

267 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, Sole Agent.

4 ot s A eyl o, T iyt c b i
and e e 0 st ki oo st Y b = s oy o bk
e o g g st

I

i i

i 7o

A S VIR A et e

T e L T s
e g

e o Srpasfieninits

T
R p——

o T e s e e
e 0 s





OEBPS/Images/img9.jpg





OEBPS/Images/imgIV-8.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img5-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img5-2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img6-1.jpg
NIC REPEATING

PATENTED IN






OEBPS/Images/img10-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img10-2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img10-3.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img13-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img22.jpg
N. KING. Patented May 22, 1866. No. 55,012.

MAGAZINE FIREARM.
Fig 1.

—H— — — 1

'-; _._.: i"—f‘

e
«p® 4
{ P s b e e na =~
.

(CFI N Es 0 ., ==
' ' § e E==
arr o~ ek~ - - S |

L o N N T

L{O=er
Fig 3
L e p






OEBPS/Images/img15-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img13-2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img20.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img15-3.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img15-2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img16-1.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img18-2.jpg
A S

a e e Kpatg i a

!Fmﬁrmmimwmn
A






OEBPS/Images/img2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img23.jpg





OEBPS/Images/Frontcover.jpg
WINCHESTER.

AN AMERICAN LEGEND e






OEBPS/Images/img17-2.jpg





OEBPS/Images/img18-1.jpg
$'SIXTY SHOTS PER MINUTE S

HENRY'S PATENT

REPEATING

BREPEE

The Most Effective Weapon in the World.

Thumumnbedmmldhmuw\mmllowmsmm
dow from the ahoulder, o even losing aim. It s alo lung

[ o o= L B b Tty
Tood, witho taking tho srup fom the howlder

For a House or Sporting Arm, it has 10 Equal;
IT IS ALWAYS LOADED AND ALWAYS READY.
Tho size now mad is 44100 inch bore, 84 iach barel, and
i et 82 e pownd T b o 100 s
108 incho; 0t 400 yardn 5 nchos; and i carries with force et
o

with one of these Rifles, particular-
lyu'.m hwubuk, cmo'rnamm

Address JNO. W.
Genl Ag't, Golumbus, Ohio,
Reud Buling, e 3o Depe.

rm“..






